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Plaintiff, the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC™), for its Complaint alleges:

1. The FTC brings this action under Section 13(b) of the Federal Trade
Commission Act (“FTC Act™), 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), to obtain temporary,
preliminary, and permanent injunctive relief, rescission or reformation of contracts,
restitution, the refund of monies paid, disgorgement of ill-gotten monies, and other
equitable relief for Defendants’ acts or practices in violation of Section 5(a) of the
FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a).

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
2, This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
§§ 1331, 1337(a), and 1345, and 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a) and 53(b).
3. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c), and
15 U.S.C. § 53(b).

PLAINTIFF

4, The FTC is an independent agency of the United States Government
created by statute. 15 U.S.C. §§ 41-58. The FTC enforces Section 5(a) of the FTC
Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), which prohibits unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or
affecting commerce.

5. The FTC is authorized to initiate federal district court proceedings, by
its own attorneys, to enjoin violations of the FTC Act and to secure such equitable
relief as may be appropriate in each case, including restitution and disgorgement.
15 U.S.C. §§ 53(b), 56(a)(2)(A).

DEFENDANTS
6. Defendant Infinity Group Services (“Infinity’), also doing business as
IGS, Hope to Homeowners, ASKIGS, and ASKIGS, Inc., is a California

corporation with its principal place of business at 163 Technology Drive West, 1*

2
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Floor, Irvine, California 92618. Infinity transacts or has transacted business in
this District and throughout the United States. At all times material to this
Complaint, acting alone or in concert with others, Infinity has advertised,
marketed, or sold mortgage loan modification services and mortgage loan
refinancing services to consumers throughout the United States.

7. Defendant Kahram Zamani (“Zamani”) is the CEQ, President,
Secretary, Director, and majority owner of Infinity. At all times material to this
Complaint, acting alone or in concert with others, he has formulated, directed,
controlled, had the authority to control, or participated in the acts and practices set
forth in this Complaint. Zamani resides in this District and in connection with the
matters alleged herein, transacts or has transacted business in this District and

throughout the United States.

COMMERCE

8. At all times material to this Complaint, Defendants have maintained a

substantial course of trade in or affecting commerce, as “commerce™ is defined in
Section 4 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 44.

DEFENDANTS’ BUSINESS PRACTICES

9. During the period November 2008 to February 2009, Defendants
engaged in a course of conduct to advertise, market, offer to sell, and sell purported
mortgage loan modification services to consumers. Defendants touted the United
States Department of Housing and Urban Development’s (HUD) Hope for
Homeowners mortgage modification program. Defendants marketed their services
to homeowners who were in financial distress, delinquent on their mortgage loans,
or in danger of losing their homes to foreclosure, Defendants charged consumers

an up-front fee of $995 for their mortgage loan modification services.
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10. Defendants conducted an extensive advertising campaign using radio
advertisements to promote their $995 mortgage loan modification services. These
advertisements directed homeowners who were struggling to pay their mortgages
to call Defendants’ toll-free telephone number or to visit Defendants’ Web site at

www.hopetohomeowners.com. The Web site urged consumers to call the toll-free

number for a consultation.

11.  During the sales calls, Defendants’ representatives collected
information from consumers, including details about the consumers’ mortgages
and financial situation. Defendants’ representatives typically promised consumers
that Defendants would help modify consumers’ mortgage loans to make their
payments more affordable.

12.  In numerous instances, Defendants’ representatives told consumers
that Defendants had a very high success rate in obtaining loan modifications.

13. In numerous instances, Defendants’ representatives told consumers
that if Defendants did not obtain a loan modification, consumers were entitled to a
full refund of the $995 up-front fee.

14.  Consumers were required to pay the up-front fee of $995 before
Defendants began the loan modification process. Consumers were also required to
fill out an application and return it to Defendants.

15.  In numerous instances, after consumers paid Defendants’ up-front fee,
Defendants failed to answer or return consumers’ telephone calls or provide
updates about the status of consumers’ loan modifications. In other instances,
Defendants misrepresented to consumers that negotiations were proceeding
smoothly or that lenders were the cause for delay.

16.  In numerous instances, Defendants failed to obtain mortgage loan
modifications. Some consumers who paid for Defendants’ services have been able
to obtain mortgage loan modifications and avoid foreclosure only through their

own efforts and not because of any service provided, or promised, by Defendants.

4
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17. In numerous instances, consumers who did not obtain loan
modifications encountered difficulty in obtaining promised refunds. In many
instances, consumers who received refunds did so only after making repeated
requests or complaining to entities such as the Better Business Bureau of the
Southland, the California Attorney General, or the FTC. In many instances,
Defendants have not provided refunds to consumers.

18.  In February 2009, Defendants ceased offering loan modification
services. However, Defendants’ discontinuance of mortgage loan modification
services may be temporary in nature. Recently, one of Defendants’ representatives
stated that Defendants may resume offering loan modification services in the near
future.

19.  When they ceased promoting mortgage loan modifications,
Defendants began focusing their marketing efforts on mortgage refinancing. In

radio advertisements and on a Web site at www.askigs.com, Defendants offer

mortgage loan refinancing for a “flat fee” of $995. Consumers are provided with a
toll free number to call if they are interested in refinancing their mortgage loans.

20. Defendants’ sale pitch is similar to the one they used for their
mortgage modification services. During the sales calls, Defendants’
representatives collect information from consumers, including details about the
consumers’ existing mortgages and financial status.

2]. Innumerous instances, Defendants’ representatives tell consumers
that the $995 up-front fee is the only charge for the consumers’ refinancing.

22.  In numerous instances, after consumers pay Defendants’ up-front fee,
Defendants fail to answer or return consumers’ telephone calls or provide updates
about the status of consumers’ mortgage refinancing. In other instances,
Defendants misrepresent to consumers that the refinancing is proceeding smoothly.

23. Innumerous instances, Defendants fail to obtain mortgage loan

refinancing for consumers for the promised $995 flat fee.

5
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24. In some instances, consumers are contacted by Defendants and

‘informed that there are substantial fees, ranging from $2,000 to $15,000, in

addition to the $995 flat fee. In other instances, consumers actually “close™ on
their loans, but are later told by Defendants that the loan will not be funded.

25. Nevertheless, Defendants continue to advertise flat fee loans on their
Web site.

26. Consumers who have not obtained mortgage refinancing for the
promised $995 up-front fee encounter difficulty in obtaining refunds. In many
instances, consumers who received refunds did so only after making repeated
requests or complaining to entities such as the Better Business Bureau, the
California Attorney General, or the FTC. In many instances, Defendants have not
provided refunds to consumers.

27. Defendants’ Internet Web site contains a disclaimer that is of limited
relevance to Defendants’ misrepresentations. The bulk of consumer complainants
heard about Defendants’ refinancing offer on a radio commercial that does not
contain a disclaimer. In any event, the Web site disclaimer is ineffective.

28. Defendants inserted an asterisk near the prominently displayed $995
flat fee mortgage loan refinancing offer on their Web site. Consumers who
examine the remainder of the Web site page will first see Defendants’
representation that: “IGS has no HIDDEN FEE COSTS. We’ve waived all the fees
you have been accustomed to paying on a refinance.” [Emphasis in original.]
Consumers who view this statement are unlikely to read further. However, if they
do, they encounter a multi-line footnote in a much smaller font. At the end of the
footnote, the Web site states: “Rates, Fees and Terms are subject to change.
Finance terms subject to underwriting approval and restrictions do apply.”

29. The vague disclaimer is ineffective and does not remedy the
misrepresentations made in Defendants” Web site. It is not presented in a clear and

prominent manner, and it is inconsistent with the core elements of the ad.
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30. Defendants have further reinforced their deceptive representations

throughout the marketing process.

VIOLATIONS OF THE FTC ACT

31. Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), prohibits “unfair or
deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce.”

32. Misrepresentations or deceptive omissions of material fact constitute
deceptive acts or practices prohibited by Section 5(a) of the FTC Act.

Count1

33.  Innumerous instances in connection with the advertising, marketing,
promotion, offering for sale, or sale of mortgage loan modification services to
consumers throughout the United States, Defendants have represented to
consumers, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that Defendants will
obtain a mortgage loan modification in all, or virtually all, instances.

34. In truth and in fact, in numerous instances in which Defendants have
made the representation set forth in Paragraph 33 of the Complaint, Defendants did
not obtain a mortgage loan modification in all, or virtually all, instances.

35. Therefore, Defendants’ representation as set forth in Paragraph 33 of
this Complaint is false and misleading and constitutes a deceptive act or practice in
violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S. C. § 45(a).

Count IT

36. Innumerous instances in connection with the advertising, marketing,
promotion, offering for sale, or sale of mortgage loan modification services to
consumers throughout the United States, Defendants have represented to
consumers, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, that Defendants will
give full refunds to consumers if Defendants fail to obtain modifications of their

loans.
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37. Intruth and in fact, in numerous instances in which Defendants have
made the representation set forth in Paragraph 36 of the Complaint, Defendants did
not give full refunds to consumers when Defendants did not obtain modifications
of their loans.

38. Therefore, Defendants’ representation as set forth in Paragraph 36 of
this Complaint is false and misleading and constitutes a deceptive act or practice in
violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a).

Count 111

39,  In numerous instances in connection with the advertising, marketing,
promotion, offering for sale, or sale of mortgage refinancing services to consumers
throughout the United States, Defendants represent to consumers, directly or
indirectly, expressly or by implication, that Defendants will obtain refinancing for
consumers’ mortgage loans for an up-front flat fee of $995.

40. Intruth and in fact, in numerous instances in which Defendants have
made the representation set forth in Paragraph 39 of the Complaint, Defendants do
not obtain refinancing for consumers’ mortgage loans for an up-front flat fee of
$995.

41. Therefore, Defendants’ representation as set forth in Paragraph 39 of
this Complaint is false and misleading and constitutes a deceptive act or practice in
violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a).

CONSUMER INJURY

42,  Consumers have suffered and will continue to suffer substantial injury

as a result of Defendants’ violations of the FTC Act. In addition, Defendants have
been unjustly enriched as a result of their unlawful acts or practices. Absent
injunctive relief by this Court, Defendants are likely to continue to injure

consumers, reap unjust enrichment, and harm the public interest.
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THIS COURT’S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF
43.  Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), empowers this Court
to grant injunctive and such other relief as the Court may deem appropriate to halt
and redress violations of the FTC Act. The Court, in the exercise of its equitable
jurisdiction, may award ancillary relief, including rescission or reformation of
contracts, restitution, the refund of monies paid, and the disgorgement of ill-gotten

monies, to prevent and remedy any violation of any provision of law enforced by
the FTC.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Wherefore, Plaintiff Federal Trade Commission, pursuant to Section 13(b) of

the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), and the Court’s own equitable powers, requests

that the Court:

A.  Award Plaintiff such temporary and preliminary injunctive and
ancillary relief as may be necessary to avert the likelihood of consumer
injury during the pendency of this action and to preserve the possibility
of effective final relief, including but not limited to a temporary
restraining order, a preliminary injunction, and an order freezing
assets;

B.  Enter a permanent injunction to prevent future violations of the FTC
Act by Defendants;

C.  Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to
consumers resulting from Defendants’ violations of the FTC Act,
including but not limited to rescission or reformation of contracts,
restitution, the refunds of monies paid, and the disgorgement of ill-

gotten gains; and
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D.  Award Plaintiff the costs of bringing this action, as well as such other

and additional equitable relief as the Court may determine to be just

and proper.

Dated: A 1&5 MﬂLCQ'b; 2009

Respectfully submitted,

WILLARD K. TOM
General Counsel

DEANYA T. KUECKELHAN

Fd

Regional Director /

Sy

gkenne fic.gov

Oklahoma Bar Number 4961
Eliseo N. Padilla, Attorney

__epadilla@ftc.gov
Florida Bar Number192929
Federal Trade Commission
1999 Bryan Street, Suite 2150
Dallas, Texas 75201
214% 979-9373 (Mr. Kennedy)

Gary D, Kenng’d% Attomey—in-Cthe

214) 979-9381 (Mr. Padilla)
214) 979-9350 (Office)
214) 953-3079 (Facsimile)

John D. Jacobs gocal Counsel)
__ Jjacobs@itc.gov
California Bar No. 134154
Federal Trade Commission
10877 Wilshire Blvd., Ste. 700
Los Angeles, California 90024
310) 824-4343 (Voice)
310) 824-4380 (Fax)

Attorneys for Plaintiff
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
SOUTHERN DIVISION

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION,

Plaintiff
V.

INFINITY GROUP SERVICES,
a corporation, also d/b/a IGS, Hope to
Homeowners, ASKIGS, and
ASKIGS, Inc; and

ZAMAN], individually and
as an officer of Infinity Group Services,

Defendants.

Case No.

COMPLAINT FOR
INJUNCTIVE AND
OTHER EQUITABLE
RELIEF
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT TO UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE FOR DISCOVERY

This case has been assigned to District Judge David O. Carter and the assigned
discovery Magistrate Judge is Marc Goldman.

The case number on all documents filed with the Court should read as follows:

SACV09- 977 DOC (MLGx)

Pursuant to General Order 05-07 of the United States District Court for the Central

District of California, the Magistrate Judge has been designated to hear discovery related
motions.

All discovery related motions should be noticed on the calendar of the Magistrate Judge

NOTICE TO COUNSEL

A copy of this notice must be served with the summons and complaint on all defendants (if a removal action is
filed, a copy of this notice must be served on all plaintiffs).

Subsequent documents must be filed at the following location:

Western Division [X] Southern Division Eastern Division
312 N. Spring St., Rm. G-8 411 West Fourth St., Rm. 1-053 3470 Twelfth St., Rm. 134
Los Angeles, CA 90012 Santa Ana, CA 92701-4516 Riverside, CA 92501

Failure to file at the proper location will result in your documents being returned to you.

CV-18 (03/06) NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT TO UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE FOR DISCOVERY
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GARY D. KENNEDY
gkennedy@ftc.gov; Oklahoma Bar No. 4961
Federal Trade Commission
1999 Bryan Street, Suite 2150
Dallas, Texas 75201
(214) 979-9373 (See attached for other counsel)

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION, UMBER
PLAINTIFF(S) 4’ aACvo9-00977 POC (MLGXx)
V. A
INFINITY GROUP SERVICES, ﬁ*

a corporation, also d/b/a IGS, Hope to /63
(See attached for other Defendants) @
ONS
DEFENDANT(S). @

TO: DEFENDANT(S): ..

A lawsuiéhas been filed against you.

Within @ays after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it), you
must serve on the pl#intj answer to the attached & complaint [J amended complaint

O counterclaim [ cros r a motion under Rule 12 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer
or motion must be served o intif’s attorney, Gary D. Kennedy , whose address is
Federal Trade Commission, 9 Bryan St., Ste 2150, Dallas, Texas 75201 . If you fail to do so,
judgment by default will be enterc®a
your answer or motion with the court.

ROLLS ROYCE
Dated: August 2L , 2009 By: o

Deputy Clerk

(Seal of the Court)

[Use 60 days if the defendant is the United States or a United States agency, or is an officer or employee of the United States. Allowed
60 days by Rule 12(a)(3)].

CV-01A (12/07) SUMMONS
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Attorneys for Plaintiff
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION

§214§ 079-9379 §Mr K ennedy) ’p@

p UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
ﬁ CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

SOUTHERN DIVISION

FEDERA% %E COMMISSION,
Plamtlﬂ%

INFINITY GROUP SERW(@
a corporation, also d/b/a IGS to
Homeowners, ASKIG
ASKIGS, Inc; and

KAHRAM ZAMANI, individually and
as an officer of Infinity Group Services,

Defendants.

Case No.

COMPLAINT FOR
INJUNCTIVE AND
OTHER EQUITABLE
RELIEF
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